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Executive Summary

On 21 April 2019, Easter Sunday, suicide terrorist
bombings that took place in three churches and three
hotels in Sri Lanka killed around 277 people (including 8
suicide bombers) and wounded more than 400 people as
per the information provided by Police Headquarters. At
least 40 foreign nationals and at least 45 children were
reported to be among the dead. Investigators identified
Zahran Hashim, one-time leader of the National Thowheed
Jamaath, as the main suspect behind the execution of these
co-ordinated attacks. Subsequent to the attacks, incidents
of ethnic violence and tension targeting the Muslim
community occurred in several parts of the country.

40 Members of Parliament representing the UNP, UPFA,
ITAK and JVP presented a resolution in Parliament
requesting the appointment of a Parliamentary Select
Committee (PSC) with the resolution passed in Parliament
on the 22nd of May 2019 without a division.

The PSC held 24 sittings from May to October 2019 and
heard evidence from 55 persons. The present report is
endorsed by all members of the PSC.

The PSC makes several findings and recommendations
in the report. Below are key findings:

Following the attacks, evidence emerged that prior
intelligence information was available regarding the
impending attack but that it was not acted upon. The PSC
notes that intelligence information related to the attacks
was first received by the Director, SIS on 4th April 2019 but
there were delays from his end to share it with the relevant
intelligence and security personnel. The Director, SIS was
called by name by the then Secretary MOD to brief the ICM
on 9th April 2019 but failed to do this by saying he would
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send a written update on the intelligence received. This, the
PSC notes is a major failure from the Director SIS, the lead
in the intelligence apparatus who had received pride of
place at the ICM and NSC. The PSC also notes the failure on
the part of the SIS to act up on the subsequent intelligence
information received after the explosion on 16th April 2019
in Kattankudy. The PSC notes that the Director SIS bears the
greatest responsibility. This is compounded by the fact that
since 8th April 2018, a full one year before the incident, he
had in writing to the IGP requested for the shutting down
of investigations by others into Zahran, which resulted in
the SIS becoming the sole investigator into Zahran.

PSC also observes that the SIS missed a series of events
that should have alerted the state security apparatus to the
impending attacks and demonstrated to them the
importance of the intelligence information received. This
was in the context of intelligence already known on Zahran
and his allies including police reports on him and arrest
warrants issued on him in March 2017. Other incidents
since 2018 (described in detail in the findings) demonstrate
how the lead intelligence party should have been more
vigilant and taken steps to keep the ICM, NSC and other
relevant parties informed. This failure by the SIS has
resulted in hundreds of deaths, many more injured and
immeasurable devastation to Sri Lanka and Sri Lankans and
that must not be treated lightly. The PSC makes this
observation considering attempts made to shield the
culpability of key individuals and the need to hold all
individuals responsible without further delay.

The PSC further notes, that whilst the greatest
responsibility remains with the Director SIS, others too
failed in their duties. Within the security and intelligence
apparatus, the Secretary MOD, IGP, CNI and DMI failed in
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their responsibilities. All were informed of the intelligence
information prior to the Easter Sunday attacks but failed to
take necessary steps to mitigate or prevent it.

The PSC makes a very serious finding in terms of the
status of the state intelligence apparatus, where
intelligence information known to a few was not shared
with relevant parties. The PSC also observes that further
investigations will be needed to understand whether those
with vested interests did not act on intelligence so as to
create chaos and instil fear and uncertainty in the country
in the lead up to the Presidential Election to be held later in
the year. Such a situation would then lead to the call for a
change of regime to contain such acts of terrorism.
Coincidently or not so coincidentally, the security situation
and fear would be unleashed months away from the
Presidential Election. The PSC also notes that this occured
in the context of changes in the leadership in the Sri Lankan
Army and DMI in 2019. These are extremely serious
observations that can impact the democratic governance,
electoral processes and security of Sri Lanka and must
require urgent attention.

In addition, the PSC observes that the President failed
in numerous occasions to give leadership and also actively
undermined government and systems including having ad
hoc NSC meetings and leaving out key individuals from
meetings. Whilst the fissures in Government were evident
in 2018, amplified with the Constitutional Crisis, these also
impacted the security apparatus. Several others are listed
in the report as having failed in their duties including the
Prime Minister and State Minister for Defence and the
Attorney General’s Department.

An important finding of the PSC is the need for

structural and legislative reform which are discussed in
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detail in the report. A critical introduction would be an
independent and robust National Security Council with a
National Security Advisor, essential in addressing evolving
security challenges. The PSC also highlights the need for
legislative reforms in several areas such as initiatives to
counter fake news and responsible reporting, work in the
education sector, the need for greater Parliament
oversight, among others.

The PSC also makes note of the rising extremism in Sri
Lanka. Evidence received by the PSC indicates that Zahran
started a campaign to radicalize Muslim youth and motivate
them to use violence to achieve their ends post March 2018
attacks on Muslims in Digana. However, investigations to
date have not shown any evidence that Zahran had direct
links with the ISIS. PSC observes that several people of
Kattankudy and several local Muslim groups made
complaints against Zahran as early as 2013/2014 to the
authorities. Testimony also showed that investigations had
commenced into some of his speeches and activities. The
rise in extremism was also in the backdrop of increasing
levels of Islamophobia.

The PSC also observes increasing levels of Wahabism
and Arabization in parts of Sri Lanka in recent years. A
physical change had taken place in recent years in
Kattankudy town with the emergence of Date-Palm Trees
and Arabic lettering on public sign boards. The Batticaloa
campus buildings also prominently display Arabic
architecture and landscape, making it drastically different
to any university building in the country. Evidence received
by the PSC indicates that Arabization commenced and was
fostered in Kattankudy by Mr. M.L.A.M. Hizbullah. The PSC
notes that the spread of Wahhabism and the Arabization of
Kattankudy contributed to the growth of extremism in the

(4)



Report of the Select Committee of Parliament to look into and report to Parliament on the
Terrorist Attacks that took place in different places in Sri Lanka on 21st April 2019

Islamic community especially in the East and must be
further investigated.

The PSC also notes that several politicians made
comments subsequent to the Easter Sunday attacks which
were inflammatory and irresponsible. The PSC notes that
speeches that incite hate and racism, by politicians,
religious leaders and others, are extremely dangerous and
must be independently investigated and individuals held to
account. Inaction will only exacerbate the impunity and
contribute to further hate and fear in Sri Lanka.

The PSC recommendations are included in a separate
section towards the end of the report.
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Timeline

2011 Then Governor of Western Province, Hon. Alavi
Moulana said in newspaper interviews that there were
armed extremists operating in Kattankudy

2013 The magazine 'Thowheed' denigrating those of other
faiths first published by NTJ

2013/ 2014  Information of the existence of the organization NTJ
(testimony of CNI, Mr. Sisira Mendis).

Extremist groups came into the TID’s radar around
2013/2014. With information of a group called the Sri
Lanka Thowheed Jamaath which drew inspiration
from the Tamil Nadu Thowheed Jamaath. This group
later spilt into several groups and the NTJ was born.
“At that time, they were an extremist group but there
was no violent extremism during that time. There were
some incidents where there was infighting among
these groups but that was all at that time ” (testimony
of DIG Mr. Nalaka de Silva)

2013/2014  Former Governor Mr. Azath Salley says that he had
informed the then Defence Secretary (Mr. Gotabaya
Rajapaksa) on several occasions, about the threat
posed by extremist elements including the breakaway
National Thowheed Jamaath (NTJ) (testimony of
Hon. Governor Salley)

2013/2014  ACJU had been warning the authorities since 2014
about the dangers posed by Muslim extremists (ACJU
testimony)

2013/2014  Hira Foundation and Batticaloa Campus Pvt. Ltd.
established (testimony of Mr. Hizbullah)

2015 Sufi Muslims of Kattankudy complained to Former
Commandant of the Army- Eastern Province, Major
General Lal Perera of harassments against them. "He
summoned Zahran and warned him to refrain from
attacking other religious groups. But the National
Thowheed Jamaath continued to attack us." (testimony of
Mr. Sahlan)
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August 2015 Zahran signed an agreement with Mr. M. L. A. M.

6 October
2015

2016

2016

2016
December

2016/2017

March 2017

Hizbullah during the parliamentary election campaign
(testimony of Mr. Azath Salley)

Former Governor of the Eastern Province Mr. M. L.
A. M. Hizbullah said he met Zahran Hashim in 2015
and he was not a ‘terrorist’ at that time. Zahran was a
leader of a religious group and he summoned all
candidates who contested the district for a meeting

Mr. Karunasena Hettiarachchi, former Secretary,
Ministry of Defence, spoke about Zahran for the first
time in a National Security Council meeting
mentioning the need for new laws to counter violent
extremism

Zahran had come under regular surveillance of TID
from 2016 as it was becoming apparent that he was
moving towards violent extremism.
Telecommunication Regulatory Commission (TRC)
as well as Sri Lanka CERT was informed to take
measures to block these sites as well as inform
Facebook about the inflammatory contents (testimony
of DIG Mr. Nalaka de Silva)

CTJ General Secretary, Mr. Abdul Razik testified that
he had informed Terrorist Investigation Division
(TID) about National Thawheed Jamaath (NTJ),
Chief Zahran in 2016.

Zahran preached against Catholics and distributed
leaflets condemning the Christmas and calling on the
people not to celebrate Christmas.

Sufi Muslims made 11 complaints to Kattankudy
police on Zahran and NTJ

Clash between two Muslim groups in Kattankudy;
one group which was headed by Zahran attacked Sufi
Muslims in the area

Several arrests made following the clashes. Among
those who escaped were Zahran, his brother Rilwan
and Army Mohideen. Army Mohideen had
maintained links with the Army and was known as an
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informant of the Army (testimony of OIC, Mr.
Wedagedara)

Governor, Hon. Salley claims that he called in public
to arrest Zahran Hashim on a TV program in March, 2017.

Mr. Uwais, who represented the Federation of
Kattankudy Mosques and Muslim Institutions
revealed that his federation had warned authorities on
multiple occasions over Zahran’s extremist activities

27 March Sufi Moulavi K. R. M. Sahlan said that his

2017 organisation had submitted a written complaint
against Zahran’s call for the killings of people of other
faiths to the President’s Office. Sahlan said that the
copies of the same complaint had been sent to the
Prime Minister’s Office, the Office of the then Justice,
Minister - Hon. Wijeyadasa Rajapakshe, Minister of
Law and Order — Hon. Sagala Ratnayake, State
Minister of Defence — Hon. Ruwan Wijewardene,
Inspector General of Police, Attorney-General’s
Department, and Director, Terrorist Investigation
Division DIG Nalaka de Silva.

15 May 2017 A report was summoned on Islamic extremist from
the Chief, SIS to brief His Excellency the President at
the NSC (testimony of Mr. Waidyaratne)

7June 2017 A file was prepared and forwarded by TID to the
Attorney-General’s Department, requesting that legal
action be taken against NTJ. Director TID-DIG Mr.
Nalaka De Silva had recommended the proscription
of the NTJ

June 2017 Letter from Al Haj Abdul Jawadh Alim Waliyyullah
Trust signed by a Moulavi named K. R. M. Sahlan
received by AG's Department detailing NTJ violence
in Kattankudy

22 June 2017 AG's Department informed the IGP to update them on
all investigations on the NTJ. “But we never received
any update from the Police. At that time, | did not know the
TID was also carrying out an investigation about Zahran
and the NTJ,” (testimony of DSG Dileepa Peiris)
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2017

2017

2018

26 February —
10 March
2018

8" April 2018

May 2018

July 2018

October 2018

7 October
2018

Islamic school textbooks published by the Ministry of
Education prescribe death sentence for those who give
up Islamism (testimony of Mr. Rishwin Ismath)

SLTJ gave CID and TID, CDs containing extremist
speeches Zahran made where he called for the
establishment of an Islamic State in Sri Lanka and
also the killing of non-Muslims (testimony of Mr.
Hisham SLTJ)

Mr. Nilantha Jayawardane briefed the NSC about
Zahran

Digana anti-Muslim riots. After this, Zahran’s actions
started moving towards violent extremism. There was
a surge in his social media activities and he was
moving from extremism to violent extremism. He was
using Facebook and websites to incite Muslim youth
towards extremism (testimony of DIG Nalaka de
Silva)

Director, SIS writes to the IGP to stop the TID
investigation and for the SIS to lead investigations

SDIG Ravi Seneviratne informed by the IGP of the
incident of destroying Buddha statues in Mawanella
and he requested that a team of CID men be deployed
for investigations. “We identified two main characters
Saadiq and Saajid. We followed them. We had information
that they were engaged in clandestine activities. On 26"
January 2019 we found that Saadig and Saajid had links
to Zahran. Thereafter we searched for him." (testimony
of SDIG Ravi Seneviratne)

Terrorism Investigation Division (TID) obtained an
open warrant from the Colombo Magistrate’s Court as
well a blue notice from Interpol in July 2018 in order
to apprehend Mohamed Zahran

After TID sent letters to TRC and SLCERT to inform
them about Zahran Hashim, SLCERT responds that
they cannot block his social media accounts and asks
TID to approach the social media company directly

Last NSC attended by the Prime Minister and State
Minister for Defence

(9)



Report of the Select Committee of Parliament to look into and report to Parliament on the
Terrorist Attacks that took place in different places in Sri Lanka on 21st April 2019

17 October ~ SLCERT assist TID to compile a report to be

2018 submitted to Facebook on Zahran Hashim. TID also
requests information such as Hashim's ID, IP address
etc.

23 October  IGP Mr. Jayasundera excluded from NSC meetings
2018 since October 2018

25 October  Arrest of TID-DIG Mr. Nalaka de Silva over alleged

2018 VIP assassination plot. "When | took over, those in the
TID were not all that well informed of Islamic extremism.
They were concentrating on the LTTE and | was the one
who brought in the possibility of the new threat and guided
them and sent men on overseas training” (testimony of
DIG Nalaka de Silva)

26 October  Constitutional Crisis commences

2018
30 October ~ Mr. Hemasiri Fernando appointed as Secretary of
2018 Defence. Neither the NTJ nor its activities were

discussed at any of the NSC meetings he attended,
while a large amount of time was devoted to discuss
trivial issues. “I remember there was a long discussion
on a fishing issue and possible terrorist attacks using
drones. Makandure Madush was also discussed at length”
(testimony of former Secretary to Ministry of
Defence, Mr. Hemasiri Fernando).

November  Report sent to the IGP by the TID on NTJ
2018

30 November The murder of two on-duty police Constables at

2018 Vavunativu, Batticaloa
3 January Moulavi Rizwi of the ACJU revealed that he, along
2019 with other ACJU representatives and former

Governor of Western Province, Mr. Azath Salley had
met then Secretary to Ministry of Defence, Mr.
Hemasiri Fernando on 3™ January 2019 and handed
over a CD containing extremist speeches in Tamil
made by Easter Sunday attacks mastermind Zahran
Hashim

17 Four arrested with explosives, detonators in
January 2019 Wanathawilluwa
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February
2019

19 February
2019

10 March

2019
March 2019

12 March
2019

04 April 2019

08 April 2019
09 April 2019

11 April 2019

16 April 2019

Zahran, Rilwan and Army Mohideen were no longer
in the Kattankudy area. "In February, 2019, too, our
officers checked and reported that those persons were not
there" (testimony of IP Mr. Kasthuriarachchi)

Final National Security Council meeting before the
Easter attacks. Wanathawilluwa incident referred to
but not discussed at length

Minister Hon. Kabir Hashim’s Coordinating
Secretary injured in a shooting

Mr. Hisham (SLTJ) stated that they had provided
information to army intelligence about one and a half
month before the Easter Sunday attacks that Zahran
was traveling in a Prado vehicle and holding secret
meetings in Nintavur, Akkaraipattu. At the time, he
was still evading arrest over his role in a clash with
Sufi Muslims in Kattankudy in March, 2017.

Attroney-General summoned the police, for a meeting
to discuss Zahran’s matter, in response to the TID’s
request, made in June 2017.

Director, SIS Mr. Nilantha Jayawardane receives first
intelligence report of a potential attack. He
subsequently shares this information with CNI, Mr.
Sisira Mendis

CNI, Mr. Sisira Mendis forwarded the letter to IGP

At the Coordination Meeting the Secretary of Defence
wanted to take the latest intelligence report but the
Director, SIS informed of following up with a letter.
IGP sent the letter.

IGP forwarded letter to Senior Deputy Inspector
General-Criminal Investigations Department, Special
Task Force, Deputy Inspector General - Western
Province, Special Range.

Media report of the SIS having briefed the President
on the intelligence information received

Explosion of a motorcycle at a remote location in
Kattankudy

(11)



Report of the Select Committee of Parliament to look into and report to Parliament on the
Terrorist Attacks that took place in different places in Sri Lanka on 21st April 2019

18 & 19 April Reports of possible activity by associates of Zahran,

2019 but there were no specific details, and no warning of
an imminent attack (testimony of IGP Mr.
Jayasundera)

19 April 2019 SIS informs DMI of the intelligence information. This
is the first reported instance where SIS briefs DMI of
the intelligence

20 April 2019 Director, SIS called IGP Mr. Jayasundera and said the
7.30pm following day would be dangerous and something
would happen. IGP conveyed that warning to all
relevant Senior DIGs. Former Secretary to Ministry of
Defence said he, too, had been given similar
information by the Chief, SIS on 20" April 2019, who
urged him to also speak to the IGP on the matter. “I
called the IGP, by which time he had been informed by the

SIS Chief as well,”
21 April 2019 Director, SIS said again that something dangerous
6.45 am would happen on that day. IGP again informed

relevant junior officers

21 April 2019 Chief, SIS called former Defence Secretary and asked

8.00am him how many Methodist Churches are in Colombo,
saying that attackers are likely to target these churches
and not the Catholic ones. “I told him I am a Buddhist
and I don’t know, but I would check with someone and get
back to him. | got some information and told him, but
within a few minutes | heard that there had been a bomb
explosion at one of the hotels,” (testimony of former
Defence Secretary, Mr. Hemasiri Fernando)

21 April 2019 Easter attacks

22 April 2019 First National Security Council meeting after the
Easter attacks. - Emergency declared

May 2019  Violence is seen in parts of Western and North-
Western Provinces

21 May 2019 TID-DIG Nalaka de Silva released on bail
22 May 2019 Appointment of Parliamentary Select Committee

23 May 2019 Sittings of Parliamentary Select Committee on Easter
Attacks commences
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Background
Easter Sunday Attacks

On 21% April 2019, Easter Sunday, suicide terrorist bombings that
took place in three churches and three hotels in Sri Lanka Killed
around 277 people (including 8 suicide bombers) and wounded more
than 400 people as per the information provided by Police
Headquarters (Appendix 6) At least 40 foreign nationals and at least
45 children were reported to be among the dead. Investigators
identified Zahran Hashim, one-time leader of the National Thowheed
Jamaath, as the main suspect behind the execution of these co-
ordinated attacks. The attacks also resulted in a few incidents of ethnic
violence and tension targeting the Muslim community in several parts
of the country. Following the attacks, evidence emerged that prior
intelligence information were available regarding the impending
attacks but that it was not acted upon. In this background, a Select
Committee of Parliament was appointed by a unanimous resolution to
investigate and report on the attacks.

Terms of Reference of the PSC

The resolution dated 05 May 2019 submitted with the signatures
of 40 Members of Parliament, included in the Order Paper of
Parliament on 22 May 2019 to appoint a Parliamentary Select
Committee to look into and report to Parliament on the Terrorist
Attacks that took place in different places in Sri Lanka on 21st April
2019, was approved by Parliament on 22 May 2019 with
amendments.

The amended resolution is given in Appendix 2 of this Report.
Nomination of Members to the Committee

In terms of the motion approved by Parliament, the Hon. Speaker
nominated the following Members of Parliament to the said Select
Committee of Parliament with the Hon. J.M. Ananda Kumarasiri,
Deputy Speaker as its Chair, and such nominations announced in
Parliament were included in the Hansard of 23 May 2019.
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Hon. Rauff Hakeem

Hon. Ravi Karunanayake

Hon. Field Marshal Sarath Fonseka
Hon. (Dr) Kavinda Heshan Jayawardena
Hon. (Prof.) Ashu Marasinghe

Hon. (Dr.) Jayampathi Wickremaratne
Hon. M.A. Sumanthiran

The relevant extract of the Hansard of that day is given in
Appendix 3 of this Report.

Nomination and substitution of Members to the Committee

The Hon. (Dr) Kavinda Heshan Jayawardena resigned from the
membership of the Committee. Hon. (Dr.) Rajitha Senaratne was
nominated to fill such vacancy. In addition, Hon. (Dr.) Nalinda
Jayatissa also was nominated by the Hon. Speaker to serve on the
Committee. Such nomination and substitution of Members was
announced to Parliament on 24 May 20109.

The relevant extract of the Hansard of that day is given in
Appendix 4 of this Report.

Opening of the Sessions of the Committee to Media

The Hon. Leader of the House of Parliament on that day, made a
request that the meetings of this Select Committee be opened to
media. The Hon. Speaker announced that the power to taking a
decision to open a Session of a Committee, has been given to the
Chair of such Committee, and hence steps can be taken accordingly.

At the initial round of discussions had by the Members of the
Select Committee, the Committee decided to open the meetings of the
Committee to the media where appropriate, especially where the
national security would not be compromised.

As such, the Committee decided to request the Director General
of Government Information to inform all media institutions to cover
the hearing of evidence at the Committee that is opened to the media
if the Committee so decides.
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At the same time, the Committee also decided to request the
Chairman of the Sri Lanka Rupavahini Corporation cause all the
proceedings of the Committee which would be opened to the media
to be recorded electronically and make it available to Parliament.

Mr. Tikiri K. Jayathilake, Assistant Secretary-General, and Mr.
Jagath Gajaweera Arachchige, Director (Legislative Services), held a
briefing shortly before the Meeting of the Select Committee convened
on the 29th May 2019 for hearing evidence from witnesses, to all the
media representatives who had arrived at the Parliament Complex.

As hearing of evidence in a Select Committee of Parliament is
open to the media for the first time in the history, the matters relating
to transmitting facts with transparency, impartiality and moderation
as expected by Parliament in reporting facts, were explained in detail.

Further, the attention of the media representatives was drawn to
transmitting facts without undue editing so that the public would be
able to gain an understanding of the discussions or submissions made
in the Committee as they were, when telecasting or broadcasting the
matters relating to hearing of evidence of the Committee.

Further, arrangements were made to draw the attention of the
media to the repercussions they would have to encounter if a false or
an unduly edited transmission of the proceedings of the Committee is
reported at any time.

Dates of the Committee.
The Committee held its meetings on the following days.
23" of May 2019
29" of May 2019
04" of June 2019
06" of June 2019
11" of June 2019
13" of June 2019
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18™ of June 2019
20" of June 2019
26" of June 2019
28" of June 2019
10" of July 2019

24 of July 2019

25" of July 2019

26" of July 2019

31% of July 2019

01% of August 2019
06" of August 2019
20" of August 2019
14" September 2019
20" of September 2019

Minutes of the Select Committee of Parliament are given at the
end of this report.
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Meetings of the Committee

First meeting held on the 23" of May 2019

Your Committee met in Committee room 7 of Parliament at 5.30
p.m. on 23™ of May 2019 and commenced its proceedings.

The Chairman of the Committee made an explanation of the
relevant Standing Orders and the provisions relating to the
proceedings of the Committee. The Chairman who stated that he
would not be able to attend a number of future meetings owing to an
urgent essential matter, nominated with the concurrence of the
Committee Hon (Dr.) Jayampathy Wickramaratne to chair the
Committee in his absence.

The Committee decided that the Quorum of the meetings of the
Committee shall be 04 members.

The Committee decided to publish notices in public newspapers
and the Parliamentary website in all three languages in order to make
the people aware of the matters of the Committee and to offer them
an opportunity to make submissions, on that day.

The newspaper notices published in the three languages are given
in Appendix 5 of this report. The list of names of the
people/organizations made written submissions is given in
Appendix 9.

Moreover, the Committee decided to request the Secretary to the
President to provide a copy of the report of the Special Investigation
Committee appointed by the President to inquire in to this and report,
to the Committee.

The Committee also decided to summon the persons who the
Committee would deem necessary, before the Committee to testify
verbally, after examining the written representations made to the
Committee.
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Second meeting held on the 29t of May 2019

General S.H.S. Kottegoda, the Secretary to the Ministry of
Defence, Mr. Sisira Mendis, Chief of national Intelligence had been
summoned before the Committee to testify.

The Committee further discussed at its meeting about opening the
oral examination of witnesses to the media and decided to open only
the examinations of witnesses at the Committee to media. At the same
time, the Committee decided that examination of witnesses at the
Committee that is opened to the media shall be broadcast live over
media.

Thereafter, all mass media representatives who had come to report
the proceedings of the Committee were granted permission to enter
the Committee Room and set up their camera equipment.

At the same time, all mass media representatives were directed
not to use mobile phones when the Committee proceedings were open
for media and to leave their mobile phones outside when they entered
the Committee Room.

First, the terms of reference of the Committee were read out in all
three languages for everyone’s information.

At the same time, the criteria that the Committee expected to be
followed in broadcasting the proceedings of the Committee over
media were explained by the Chairman.

The Chairman explained that in conducting the business of the
Committee, action would be taken to adhere to the fundamentals of
national security enshrined in the Constitution of the Republic of Sri
Lanka and to follow the guidelines for divulging information ensured
by the Right to Information Act.

Then the Committee commenced hearing the witnesses. The full
record of evidence from the witnesses is given at the end of this report.

e General S.H.S. Kottegoda, Secretary to the Ministry of
Defence and
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e Mr. Sisira Mendis, Chief of National Intelligence
testified before the Committee on this day.
Third meeting held on the 04™ of June 2019
On this day, -

e Former Head of the Terrorist Investigation Division of the
Police Department, Mr. Nalaka de Silva testified.

After concluding the hearing, the opinion of the Attorney General
contained in a letter sent by the Attorney General in response to a
letter from the Secretary to the President that had been mentioned in
a letter sent to the Committee by the Hon. Speaker was brought to the
notice of the Committee. In that the Attorney General had stated that
the proceedings of the Committee could have an adverse impact on
the cases pending in courts.

The Committee agreed to write to the Hon. Speaker informing that
the Committee would conduct its business very prudently so that
current investigations and proceedings or national security are not
prejudiced.

Fourth Meeting held on the 06 of June 2019
e Inspector General of Police, Mr. Pujith Jayasundera and

e Former Secretary to the Ministry of Defence, Mr. Hemasiri
Fernando

testified before the Committee on this day.
Fifth Meeting held on the 11t of June 2019
e Former Governor of the Western Province, Mr. Azath Salley

e President of All Ceylon Jamiyyathul Ulama, Ash — Sheikh
Mufti M I M. Rizwe and

e Member of the Kattankudy Mosque Federation and Muslim
Institutes, Mr. Abusali Uwais
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testified before the Committee on this day.

Sixth meeting held on 13" June 2019

e Secretary to the Ministry of Public Administration and
Disaster Management Mr. J.J. Ratnasiri, and

e Former Governor of the Eastern Province Mr. M.L.A.M.
Hizbullah

testified before the Committee on this day.

Seventh meeting held on 18™ June 2019

e Officer in Charge of the Kattankudy Police Station Mr. M.P.
Kasturiarachchi,

e Former Officer in Charge of the Kattankudy Police Station
Mr.A.B. Wedagedera, and

e Secretary of Al-haj Abdul Jawath Alim Waliyullah Trust Mr.
K.R.M. Sahlan

testified before the Committee on this day.

Eighth meeting held on 20" June 2019

¢ General Secretary, Ceylon Thawheed Jama’ath Mr. Abdul
Razik, and

e President of Sri Lanka Thawheed Jama’ath Organization
Mr. A.K. Hisham and

e Mr. Rishwin Ismath
testified before the Committee on this day.
Ninth meeting held on 26™ June 2019

e Commander of the Sri Lanka Army Lieutenant General
N.U.M.M.W. Senanayake,

e Secretary of the Ministry of Industry and Commerce, Mr.
K.D.N. Ranjith Asoka, and
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e Director-General of the Industrial Development Board
Mr. P.L.U. Rathnamalala

testified before the Committee on this day.
Tenth meeting held on 28™ June 2019

e Member of Parliament Hon. Rishad Bathiudeen,

e Mr. M.H.M. Fahim, Private Secretary and brother of former
Minister of Posts Hon. A.H.M. Haleem,

e Director General of the Board of Investments, Mrs C.P.
Malalgoda,

e General Manager of Bank of Ceylon Mr. Senarath Bandara,
and

e Secretary of the National Police Commission Mr. D.M.
Samansiri Dissanayake

testified before the Committee on this day.
Eleventh meeting held on 10 July 2019

e Member of Parliament Hon. Dayasiri Jayasekara,
e Secretary to the Ministry of Education Mr. M.N. Ranasinghe,

e Commissioner General of Educational Publications
Mr. Jayantha Wickremanayake, and

e Senior Deputy Inspector General of Police of the Eastern
province Mr. Kapila Jayasekara

testified before the Committee on this day.
Twelfth meeting held on 24" July 2019

e Director of Criminal Investigations Department and Terrorist
Investigation Division Senior Deputy Inspector General of
Police Mr. Ravi Seneviratne,

e Director of Criminal Investigations Department Mr. Shani
Abeysekara,
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e Officer in charge to Counter Terrorism and Investigation
Division Mr. T.R.K.R. Pathirana, and

e Director of Terrorist Investigation Division Mr. Waruna
Jayasundara

testified before the Committee on this day.

Hearing of evidence was temporarily suspended and the
Committee was adjourned.

Thereafter, since the hearing of evidence of the next witness was
crucial to national security, the Committee decided to hold the hearing
in camera and met at the Parliamentary Committee Complex located
at Rajamalwatta Road, Battaramulla at 7.00 p.m. and continued the
hearing until 1.00 a.m. the following day.

There-

e the Head of the State Intelligence Service, Senior Deputy
Inspector General of Police Mr. Nilantha Jayawardana

testified before the Committee.
Thirteenth meeting held on 25" July 2019
e The Commandant of the Special Task Force Mr. M.R. Latif,

e Former Commander of the Army in the Eastern Province,
Retired Major General Lal Perera,

e Advisor of the Ministry of Defence and former Inspector
General of Police Mr. N.K. lllangakoon,

e Former Secretary of the Ministry of Law and Order, Mr.
Padmasiri Jayamanne, and

e Chief Executive Officer of Bodu Bala Sena Mr. Dilantha
Vithanage

testified before the Committee on this day.
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Fourteenth meeting held on 26 July 2019

Governor of the Central Bank Dr. Indrajith Coomaraswamy,

Director, Finance Intelligence Unit of the Central Bank, Mr.
D.M. Rupasinghe,

Director, Foreign Exchange Department of the Central Bank.
Mr. R.R. Jayaratne,

The Attorney-General President’s Counsel Hon. Dappula De
Livera,

Additional  Solicitor  General, President’s Counsel
Mr. Sumathi Dharmawardena,

State Counsel, Attorney-General’s Department Mr. Abdul
Malik Azeez,

Mr. KM.D. Anuradha — Who submitted a written
representation to the Committee

testified before the Committee on this day.

Fifteenth Meeting held on 31 July 2019

Lieutenant General Mr. N.U.M.M.W. Senanayake,
Commander of the Sri Lanka Army, and

President’s Counsel Mr. Kapila Waidyaratne, the former
Secretary to the Ministry of Defence.

testified before the Committee on this day.

Sixteenth Meeting held on 01 August 2019

Mr. Dileepa Peiris, Deputy Solicitor General, Attorney
General’s Department,

Mr. Azard Navavi, Deputy Solicitor General, Attorney
General’s Department, and

Mr. Jagath Vishantha, Senior Superintendent of Police,
Director — Counter-Terrorism Investigation Division

testified before the Committee on this day.
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Seventeenth Meeting held on 06 August 2019

Hon. Ruwan Wijewardane, Non-Cabinet Minister of Mass
Media, and State Minister of Defence,

Hon. Sagala Ratnayaka, Minister of Ports, Shipping and
Southern Development and former Minister of Law & Order,

Hon. R.M. Ranjith Madduma Bandara, Minister of Public
Administration, Disaster Management and Livestock
Development and former Minister of Law & Order,

Hon. Ranil Wickremesinghe, Prime Minister and Minister of
National Policies, Economic Affairs, Resettlement and
Rehabilitation, Northern Province Development and Youth
Affairs

gave evidence before the Committee on this day.

Eighteenth Meeting held on 20 August 2019

Hon. Justice Vijith K. Malalgoda, President’s Counsel, Head
of the Special Committee appointed by the President to
investigate and report the Easter Sunday attacks,

Mr. N.K. Illangakoon, Member of the Special Committee
appointed by the President to investigate and report the Easter
Sunday attacks, and

Mr. Padmasiri Jayamanne, Member of the Special Committee
appointed by the President to investigate and report the Easter
Sunday attacks

gave evidence before the Committee on this day.

The Committee, having observed that the evidence of His
Excellency Maithripala Sirisena, the President of the Democratic
Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka, who was the Minister of Defence at
the time these incidents took place, would be very helpful and
important in preparing the final report of the Committee, decided to
make a request to His Excellency the President to give the Committee
an opportunity for that.
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Nineteenth Meeting held on 14 September 2019

Members of the Committee discussed the matters to be included
in their Report to be presented to Parliament.

Twentieth Meeting held on 20 September 2019

On this day the Committee met His Excellency the President at
the Presidential Secretariat and had discussions with him.

Consideration of the Draft Report of the Committee

After this discussion, the Committee met at the Parliament
Complex and decided to finish obtaining evidence, to prepare the
report of the Committee, and to prepare a draft report and to meet
thereafter and consider that draft report.

The Committee met on the following dates and considered its
report in detail: -

24 September 2019
04 October 2019
08 October 2019
18 October 2019

After lengthy discussions with all Members of the Committee, the
Report prepared with the consensus of all Members is appended.
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REPORT

Thowheed Jama’ath Organizations in Sri Lanka

The word “Thowheed” means oneness of God. It therefore
emphasises the concept of monotheism in Islam. There are several
Thowheed movements in Sri Lanka. Sri Lanka Thowheed Jamath
(SLTJ) came into being on the 24" of March 2005 and was based in
Colombo. SLTJ had around 82 branches operating island-wide. It is
closely associated with the Tamil Nadu Thawheed Jamath
organization.

The National Thowheed Jamath (NTJ) was formed in or around
2016 by Zahran Hashim, the mastermind responsible for carrying out
the terrorist attacks on the 215 April 2019,

On the 23" of September 2018, a group headed by Abdul Razeek
broke away from the NTJ due to internal issues and formed a different
organization called the Ceylon Tawheed Jamath (CTJ). The CTJ
operates around the country and has around 63 branches island-wide.

The Emergence of Zahran Hashim and National Thawheed Jamath
(NTJ)

In 2006 Zahran Hashim established an organization called
“Dharul Athar” in Kattankudy. He started making radical speeches in
or around that time. In or around 2010 he began making speeches in
Tamil to entice youngsters and convert them to extremist ideology.

His attempts to register “Dharul Athar” Organization under the
Urban Council was prevented by the people in Kattankudy by giving
letters to different authorities. He was subsequently expelled from
“Dharul Athar” in or around 2016, after which he started the National
Thawheed Jamath (NTJ). In 2017, Zahran’s activities reached its
peak in Kattankudy, where he targeted and started a campaign against
people with different ideologies. On the 10" March 2017, Zahran’s
organization clashed with certain individuals from the Sufi sect. It
was reported that Zahran and his followers used knives, clubs, swords
and pelted stones injuring several people. Though several arrests were
made, Zahran and his brother Rilwan absconded. A case was filed in
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the Magistrate’s Court of Batticaloa bearing case number
276/B/2017. Other suspects arrested were kept in remand custody for
about 8 months and were subsequently given bail by the High Court.
Two of these suspects were suicide bombers who later carried out
attacks on the 21°% of April 2019.

Evidence received by the PSC indicates that Zahran started a
campaign to radicalise Muslim youth and motivate them to use
violence to achieve their ends. Initially this project did not have much
success, but after the attacks on Muslims in Digana in March 2018,
he was able to recruit many by using that incident and the Aluthgama
incidents of 2014 to embrace the Islamic State of Iraq and Syria
ideology. He preached that in order to counter the Buddhist
extremism the Muslim youth must take up arms. This is when it
started to move towards violent extremism. There was a surge in his
social media activities inciting Muslim youth. Zahran started
endorsing the activities of the ISIS and was promoting its ideology
through social media and his website. However, investigations to date
have not shown any evidence that he had direct links with the ISIS.

Several testimonies before the PSC demonstrated that the people
of Kattankudy and several local Muslim groups made complaints
against Zahran as early as 2013/2014 to the authorities. Testimony
also showed that investigations had commenced into some of his
speeches and activities.

In November 2018, two Policemen on duty in Vavunathivu, in
Batticaloa were killed.

In December 2018, some members of Zahran’s group destroyed
Buddhist statues in Mawanella. Following that act of vandalism,
interrogation of suspects led to an 80 acre-coconut cultivation in
Wanathawillu in Puttalam, where CID uncovered a large cache of
explosives buried in the plantation. The cache included 125 kilo
grams of urea nitrate 99 non-electric detonators, and a range of
equipment including notes on making explosives (page 767).

Later in mid-March 2019, Mohamed Razak Taslim, the
Coordinating Secretary of Highways and Investment Promotions
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Minister, Hon. Kabir Hashim was shot at a point -blank range at his
residence in Dhanagama Mawatha, Kandy by two assailants. Taslim
had helped the CID investigation to nab the Mawanella attackers.

On the night of the 16™ of April 2019 an explosion took place in
Palamunai, Kattankudy, where a Motor Cycle (actually a Scooty) was
destroyed. Subsequent investigations revealed that this was a dry run
to test timers and detonators.

Constitutional Crisis in October 2018

The PSC notes that the constitutional crisis in 2018 must be
referenced at the outset as this had a direct bearing on the governance
and security situation in Sri Lanka. The following is a brief outline of
the events commencing since 26 October 2018:

e On the 26" of October 2018, Hon. Mahinda Rajapaksa was
sworn in as the Prime Minister by His Excellency the
President Maithripala Sirisena. On the same day the President
by a letter addressed to Prime Minister Hon. Ranil
Wickremesinghe informed him that he had been removed as
the Prime Minister. Prime Minister Hon. Ranil
Wickremesinghe responded to His Excellency the President
Maithripala Sirisena and asserted that he continues to be the
lawful Prime Minister of the Country.

e On 27" October 2018 Parliament was prorogued.

e On 29" October 2018, 126 Members of Parliament wrote to
the Speaker requesting for Parliament to be reconvened. On
the same day, 12 Members of Parliament were sworn as
Cabinet Ministers.

e On 30" October 2018, the Speaker urged His Excellency the
President Sirisena to reconvene Parliament.

e Onthe 9" of November 2018, the crisis reached its peak as the
President issued a Gazette notification dissolving Parliament.

e On the 12" of November 2018 twelve fundamental rights
petitions were filed in the Supreme Court of Sri Lanka
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challenging the President’s proclamation of dissolving
Parliament and calling snap elections. The Supreme Court
made an interim order suspending the operation of the
President’s proclamation, which resulted in the Parliament
holding a sitting on 14" November 2018. Subsequently, on the
13" of December 2018, the Supreme Court of Sri Lanka
declared the dissolution of Parliament to be unconstitutional.

e On 14" November 2018, a No-Confidence Motion against
Hon. Mahinda Rajapaksa was passed in Parliament.

e On 15" November, chaos reigned in Parliament when the
Speaker attempted to take a vote.

e On 16" November, amidst further chaos, the Speaker entered
the Chamber with police protection. Standing Orders were
suspended and a vote of No-Confidence was passed against
Hon. Mahinda Rajapaksa.

e On 23" November, a writ application by 122 Members of
Parliament challenging the authority of the Hon. Mahinda
Rajapaksa government was filed in the Court of Appeal.

e On 3 December 2018, the Court of Appeal issued an interim
order to prevent the Hon. Mahinda Rajapaksa government
from holding office.

e On 12" December, Parliament passed a Vote of Confidence
on Hon. Ranil Wickremesinghe saying that he commands the
majority support in Parliament.

e On 13" December, the Supreme Court in a 7-0 judgement held
the purported dissolution to be unconstitutional and thus null
and void.

e 16" December 2018, Hon. Ranil Wickremesinghe took oaths
again as Prime Minister.

The Committee observes that the political fallout of the
constitutional crisis and the bitter fight between the country’s leaders
had contributed to the decline of the security apparatus in the country.
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National Security Council (NSC) and Others

The National Security Council is the apex national security
decision-making body and is headed by the President of Sri Lanka.
The meetings are usually attended by the Prime Minister, State
Minister for Defence, CDS, heads of the three forces, IGP and the
heads of respective intelligence services. According to the testimony
by the former Defence Secretary, Mr. Hemasiri Fernando, the
Secretaries to the Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Foreign Affairs
and Ministry of Law and Order also attended the meetings. Secretary
to the President and Secretary to the Prime Minister also attended.

There is no Law that provides for the framework of the NSC
but testimony before the PSC indicated to the Gazette issued
by former President Her Excellency the Chandrika
Bandaranaike Kumaratunga (marked 1W3)

The PSC was informed that the meetings are called by the
Secretary, MOD at the instruction of the President.

During the war, the NSC met at least once a week. In the post
war context, the meetings were less frequent with ad-hoc
meetings in recent months.

According to the testimony before the PSC, His Excellency
the President Sirisena had requested Mr. Kapila Waidyaratne,
then Secretary, MOD not to invite the IGP after 13™
November 2018. Testimony also indicated that President
instructed Mr. Hemasiri Fernando, former Secretary, MOD
not to invite the Prime Minister, the State Minister for Defence
and the IGP (during the Constitutional Crisis, Hon. Mahinda
Rajapaksa also was not invited).

The testimony indicated that four opposition Members of
Parliament attended NSC meetings in 2019 — Hon. Dayasiri
Jayasekera, MP, Hon. Thilanga Sumathipala, MP,
Hon. Mahinda Amaraweera, MP and Hon. Lasantha
Alagiywanna, MP.
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The Intelligence Coordinating Meeting is held every Tuesday to
discuss security and intelligence issues. A pre-meeting is held every
Monday to discuss issues for the Tuesday meeting. According to the
testimony provided by the Director, SIS there is an order dated
26.04.2016 from the then Secretary, MOD (Mr. Karunasena
Hettiarachchi) which directs CNI to hold the pre-meeting every
Monday prior to the weekly ICM on Tuesday.

The same testimony provided that an order dated 26.07.2018 from
the then Secretary, MOD (Mr. Kapila Waidyaratne) directed CNI to
inform the Secretary to the President on matters pertaining to national
interest. The meeting was chaired by the Secretary of Defence. The
meeting would be attended at the working level and comprised of the
CDS, Deputies of the three forces, IGP, CNI, SIS, DMI. TID was
included when the IGP requested the then Secretary, MOD,
Mr. Kapila Waidyaratne (page 170).

At this meeting the pride of place would be for the SIS to brief.
On 9™ April 2019, the meeting was chaired by the then Secretary,
MOD. This was a critical meeting as it was the first meeting after
intelligence information reached regarding potential attacks. At this
meeting, the Secretary, MOD requests the Director, SIS on the issue
in question with the SIS saying he will send a note. If the matter was
discussed, steps may have been taken to prevent the Easter Sunday
attacks.

The Findings Section will discuss in detail events leading up to
the Easter Sunday attacks and subsequent developments.

According to evidence placed before us, the Easter Sunday attacks
took place in the following places and times:

8:45 a.m. Catholic Church of St. Sebastian in Negombo

8:45 a.m. Catholic Shrine of St. Anthony in Kotahena,
Kochchikade

8.47 a.m. Hotel Kingsbury, Colombo
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8.54 a.m. Hotel Shangri-La, Colombo

9:10 a.m. Zion Church in Batticaloa

9.12 a.m. Hotel Cinnamon Grand, Colombo

1.30 p.m. The Tropical Inn, Dehiwala

2.25 p.m. Housing Complex, Dematagoda

The NSC met immediately after the explosions. According to Mr.
Hemasiri Fernando’s testimony, the President had requested the
Secretary of Defence and the Secretary to the President not to attend
a meeting called by the Prime Minister.

The Three Member ad-hoc Committee appointed by the President

The President appointed a three-member Committee to look into
the Easter Sunday attacks (referred to as the ad hoc Committee). The
Committee was headed by Supreme Court Judge Hon. Vijith
Malalgoda, former IGP Mr. N. K. lllangakoon and former Secretary
to Ministry of Law and Order Mr. Padmasiri Jayamanne. The ad-hoc
Committee was initially appointed for two weeks and was
subsequently given three further weeks with the Committee providing
two interim reports and a final report to the President.

The PSC heard testimony of the three members on 20" August
2019 and was informed that the work of the Committee was
completed on 31 May 2019 and the final report handed to the
President on 10" June 2019. The PSC was informed that the ad hoc
Committee was not established under any law and therefore had no
legal standing.

Article 110 (1) of the Constitution states that, “4 judge of the
Supreme Court or Court of Appeal may be required by the President
of the Republic to perform or discharge any other appropriate duties
or functions under any written law.”

Given that the above provisions are to ensure the independence of
the judiciary, the PSC is of the opinion that the appointment of Justice
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Hon. Malalgoda to this ad hoc Committee was not desirable and
should not be treated as a valid precedence. The PSC, nevertheless
decided to receive evidence from the members of this Committee
since they had the benefit of evidence from key personalities taken
immediately after the attacks.

The PSC notes that the ad hoc Committee was able to examine
evidence within a matter of days of the attacks and speak to many
individuals who were involved with law and order, security,
intelligence and others who responded to the attacks. The PSC notes
that much of the PSC findings collaborates with the findings of the
Committee.

Some of the key findings from the ad hoc Committee relevant to
the PSC are:

e The ad hoc Committee informed of several lapses in the
intelligence and security sector such as lapses in the Police
Department and the intelligence services (page 1302).

e The ad hoc Committee found several lapses in the Police
including police who were apparently on duty on 21% April
2019 and subsequent changes in record books/falsifying
records, lapses with instructions given after receiving
intelligence and the intelligence shared. (page 1305).

e The findings include that there were several teams working on
intelligence and there was no proper coordinated approach to
share intelligence and to be connected (page 1303).

e The ad hoc Committee also had noted that there were delays
and lapses in sharing intelligence information received on the
attacks and steps taken by the relevant authorities to address
the intelligence. (page 1310)

e They also noted the delays since receiving information of the
explosion on 16" April 2019. They noted that by 18" April
information of the explosion was available and information
was available of possible attackers by then. Lack of action at
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this time with crucial intelligence information received is a
clear lapse of those responsible (page 1311).

e The ad hoc Committee also noted that the Minister for
Defence was in the country on 9" April 2019 when the first
intelligence information was shared with key individuals but
none had briefed the President of the intelligence received
(page 1331).

The ad hoc Committee also noted the lapses from specific
individuals and named the IGP, CNI and Secretary, MOD in their
testimony to the PSC.

Failures of the Secretary, MOD - They noted that the Secretary,
MOD had failed in his duty as he had not informed the President who
was also the Minister of Defence of the intelligence that was received
(page 1319). They also found that the Secretary, MOD should have
informed the Minister of Defence to call a meeting of the NSC which
was also not done (page 1319-20). The Secretary, MOD should have
instructed the relevant officials including the IGP and security forces
(pages 1329/1334).

Failures of the IGP - The Committee also noted that the security
of the political leadership had not been informed of the intelligence
received. The PSC was informed that the Director, President’s
Security and the Director, Prime Minister’s Security were not
informed of the intelligence received and that this should have been
done by the IGP. Intelligence should also have been shared with
Senior DIGs and others in the Police which was the responsibility of
the IGP (page 1335). The Committee reported that they had
questioned the IGP to this lapse and he had informed that he had
expected the DIG in charge of STF to inform (page 1323).

The ad hoc Committee also informed that the attitude of the IGP
was that he had sent the note on the 9™ April 2019 to the relevant
individuals and that his position was “I have done my part. By saying
that “FNA”, I have finished my part. I expected the other people to
convey other things, | am the IG that is all 1 do” (page 1323).
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The Committee also noted the delays in action from the IGP. The
first intelligence report was received by the IGP on 9™ April 2019 but
he had not taken any steps until 19" April 2019. The Committee noted
that the IGP had sent it back asking for further investigation and
reporting back but necessary action had not been taken (page 1324).

Failures of the CNI- The ad hoc Committee also noted that the
CNI did not have the needed knowledge and expertise in intelligence
and thus failed to understand the gravity of the intelligence
information received. They also noted that Director, SIS was aware
CNI did not have this knowledge and had taken advantage of this
situation (page 1324). The Committee also noted that the CNI should
have got the intelligence information analysed through his office
which he had failed to do (page 1327). The Committee also noted that
the CNI did not respond as needed when the intelligence information
was received including not responding to messages and calls (page
1326).

The ad hoc Committee also found another lapse was with the
political leadership nor the Security Commanders being informed of
the intelligence information (page 1323).

The Committee had noted there were problems within some of the
existing intelligence agencies such as the SIS and DMI and that may
have prevented the Director, SIS from sharing the intelligence
information at the 9™ April 2019 meeting (page 1330).

The Committee had made the recommendation to introduce
legislation with the State Intelligence Service and to have one
independent intelligence service (pages 1302-1303). The new law
should address how intelligence is gathered, how it is discussed, who
it should be shared with, and who should be part of the discussions
(page 1304).

The Committee also noted that some politicians had known of the
potential attacks (page 1313). This despite the President, Prime
Minister, security force Commanders not being informed.
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They also noted that there should be one ministry for all religions
in Sri Lanka (page 1302).

Whilst the ad hoc Committee did not look into whether there
should be a separate Ministry for Law and Order, one Committee
member - Mr. Padmasiri Jayamanne - indicated to the PSC that a
separate Ministry of Law and Order should exist (page 1306).

Comments by the PSC on the findings of the ad hoc Committee
are discussed later in this report.
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Findings

This section will discuss the testimony received before the
PSC and categorised according to the following sections: -

1.

2.

Security & Intelligence Framework and Issues;

Despite the rise in religious extremism especially in
places such as Kattankudy, sufficient action was not
taken to monitor or control it;

Prior warnings and complaints made by several people
were not acted upon;

Lack of trust and coordination between law and order
agencies such as the Police and the Attorney-General’s
Department which resulted in Inter and Intra Institutional
Communication Gaps;

The spread of Wahhabism and Arabization of
Kattankudy;

Are there allegations levelled against any Member of
Parliament, Governors or any other persons; and

Culpability.
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1. Security & Intelligence Framework and Issues
This section will discuss the following issues: -
1.1. Present framework to gather and share intelligence
1.2. Intelligence sharing in the lead up to Easter Sunday attacks.
1.3. Intelligence received in April and action taken.
1.4. Haphazard Security and Intelligence Sharing and Action
1.5. Lack of Strategic Vision Expertise and Preparedness.
1.6. Politicisation of the Security and Intelligence Sector.
1.7. Failures

1.8. Concerns in relation to the involvement of some in the
intelligence network with serious ramifications on the
politics and future of Sri Lanka

1.9. Need for a New Framework and Structural Reform

The attacks of Easter Sunday and subsequent revelations indicate
failures in the existing political, security and intelligence
establishments. The PSC received testimony from several who spoke
of the present framework in place and practices in terms of gathering
and sharing of intelligence and steps in place for action to counter
security threats. This section of the report will discuss these issues in
detail and highlight areas where the PSC notes are failures and
requiring attention.

1.1. Present framework to gather and share intelligence

The PSC was informed of the structures in place to gather and
discuss security and intelligence information. The PSC was also
informed of measures in place to act on intelligence reports which will
also be discussed in this section.

The PSC was informed of several structures in place and require
attention when discussing security and intelligence gathering and
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sharing. The following were highlighted as three that require
attention: -

1. The Intelligence Coordinating Conference (ICC)
2. The Intelligence Coordinating Meeting (ICM)
3. The National Security Council (NSC)

The PSC was informed that the Intelligence Coordinating
Conference (ICC) is held every Monday if there were serious issues,
the Intelligence Coordinating Meeting (ICM) held every Tuesday
to discuss security and intelligence issues. The Intelligence
Coordinating Conference is a pre-meeting held every Monday to
discuss issues and in preparation for the Tuesday meeting of the
Intelligence Coordinating Meeting.

The PSC was informed that the agenda for the meeting was sent
via WhatsApp the day prior to the meeting but no information was
available to indicate how the agenda was set and whether there were
any follow up actions taken from previous meetings. The inference
indicated to the Secretary, MOD, taking the lead in organising the
three meetings listed above. According to the testimony of Director,
SIS, the CNI sets the agenda for the ICM meeting (page 862) and an
agenda sent via WhatsApp. But he also said that meetings were erratic
(page 866) and that at some meetings an agenda was not shared prior
to the meeting as was the case at the meeting held on 2" April 2019.

According to the testimony provided by the Director, SIS, an
order dated 26.04.2016 from the then Secretary, MOD (Mr.
Karunasena Hettiarachchi) directs the CNI to hold the ICC every
Monday prior to the weekly ICM on Tuesday if there are serious
issues.

The same testimony provided that an order dated 26.07.2018 from
the then Secretary, MOD, Mr. Kapila Waidyaratne directed the CNI
to inform the Secretary to the President on matters pertaining to
national interest.

The meetings of the ICC and ICM are attended at the working
level and comprised of the CDS, Deputies of the three forces, IGP,
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CNI, SIS, the three Commanders and the DMI. The TID was included
when the IGP requested the then Secretary, MOD, Mr. Kapila
Waidyaratne to include.

The relevant verbatim is appended below:-

“e3852 eSasggale T @eoma 2 a@ozrsewsy'Security Council dez'
Ho=, Intelligence Coordinating Meeting 92" 0@ edzlezy
Director SIS 2oz detailed presentation demzy .f» 203
G0@Ws 589 B¢ ® eOYery . S Swlw »O& Sgewo DMI 920
wz¥esy .then comes the CDS, the three Service Commanders and
at last me but Coordinating Committee dez gro@wws’ SHO& .
BBy esesdoes Service Commanders &z’ mch o Army,
Navy, Air Force @ o oz oz’ Hed»Es .Then our
Special Branch and TID . &2 ®® 2wz @20; . TID &z Jozf
Baeed sy, .Director TID Mr. Nalaka De Silva @220 &S
zxne; .but | with the permission of the Secretary .@@ gdeo®
goewz Mr. Kapila Waidyaratne z»c» 2o@0 | brought Director,
TID also to that forum. That is Intelligence Coordinating Meeting
2 0022087 . @@rz¢ Sasa@a’ OULPUL D2 @D ez, ”
According to the testimony of the Director, SIS, the ICM meetings
were also not regular. According to his testimony (page 861) there

were only 6 meetings out of 26.

National Security Council (NSC) is the apex body mandated
with intelligence and security issues in Sri Lanka. According to
Gazette No 1081/19 issued on 27" May 1999 under Section 5 of the
Public Security Ordinance by then President Her Excellency (Mrs.)
Chandrika Bandaranaike Kumaratunga the NSC is “charged with the
maintenance of national security with authority to direct security
operations and matters incidental to it”. (Marked 1W3)

The Gazette goes on to list the composition of the NSC with the
President as Commander in Chief of the Armed Forces to head it and
comprising of a Minister or more than one Minister of the Cabinet
nominated by the President, Deputy Minister of Defence, Secretary to
the President, Secretary to the Ministry of Defence, Chief of Defence
Staff (CDS), Commander of the Army, Commander of the Navy,
Commander of the Air Force, Inspector General of Police (IGP) and
the Director General, Internal Intelligence.
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The same Gazette provides for the office of CDS and provides
that the Commanders of the tri-forces and the 1IGP will come under
the command of the CDS and that he will advise the NSC on
‘operational capability and preparedness of the armed forces and the
police and that he will also implement directions issued by the
President and the NSC’.

The NSC has expanded from what was gazetted in 1999 to what
now also include in addition to the above the Prime Minister, Minister
for Law and Order, CNI, DMI, Secretaries to the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and Ministry of Finance. Some were invited for specific
meetings depending on the need. Post the Easter Sunday attacks the
Senior DIG-CID is also invited to the NSC.

The PSC received testimony by several respondents which
indicated setbacks with the operations of the NSC. They included ad-
hoc and irregular meetings, key individuals not being invited to
meetings, Members of Parliament in opposition being invited, failures
with information sharing and not having a clear follow up process.
These will be discussed in detail below.

According to testimony received, as a practice in recent years the
pride of place at these meetings would be for the Director, SIS to give
an intelligence briefing. This is a key point that must be highlighted
as there was through practice a dependence on the SIS to take the lead
on intelligence gathering and sharing. The PSC comments on the role
of the SIS in terms of the developments in the lead up to the Easter
Sunday attacks later in the report.

Testimony received also indicates that the present Director, SIS
had regular access to the President. This must be contrasted by limited
access to the then Secretary, MOD (Mr. Hemasiri Fernando) who
conveyed that at times he had to wait for up to three hours to meet the
President. The PSC was also informed of several instances where the
President was first informed of intelligence by the Director, SIS and
the impression given to senior officials that the President and the
Director, SIS had direct and regular communications (page 228). The
access of the present Director, SIS to the President and the pride of
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place the SIS has received with intelligence briefings has alleviated
the office above others involved in intelligence gathering. The PSC
was also informed that the SIS took the lead in intelligence gathering
from foreign sources and hence they were expected to play the lead
role in an instance where intelligence was received from external
sources, as was the case in the lead up to the Easter Sunday attacks.
The PSC will comment later in this report on the practice of
depending on the SIS for briefings in the context of expertise within
the SIS, expertise elsewhere and what was needed in terms of security
challenges in Sri Lanka and globally.

1.2. Intelligence sharing on the lead up to Easter Sunday attacks

The sequence of intelligence gathering and sharing must be noted
to clearly understand what transpired soon after the initial intelligence
of potential attacks was received.

Testimony received by the PSC demonstrates that intelligence
teams were aware of the potential threats by Zahran, his associates
and the NTJ prior to the Easter Sunday attacks. Testimony also
indicates to several intelligence agencies being aware of increasing
extremism in Sri Lanka and the role of Zahran and his associates in
this regard.

According to the Director, SIS and others, intelligence
information was received on the radicalization and potential threats
from such groups since 2015 (This is also discussed later in the
report). According to the testimony of the Director, SIS, a list was
provided by the SIS on 31% October 2017 of 94 individuals who had
been radicalised (page 864). Another list was given in February 2019
with 129 names. A person named Jameel was on top of this list and
the list was shared with the Police. The TID had questioned Jameel in
2018 and released him. Jameel was one of the suicide bombers.
According to the Director, SIS, out of the 94 in the 2017 list, 6-7
persons were dead and 54 arrested (page 864).

The TID informed the PSC that social media posts of Zahran and
his associates were sent to the Attorney-General on 07.06.2017
followed by a second letter on 12.06.2018 (page 816). The TID only

(42)



Report of the Select Committee of Parliament to look into and report to Parliament on the
Terrorist Attacks that took place in different places in Sri Lanka on 21st April 2019

received a response from Attorney-General on 12.03.2019 asking for
more information in gaps in the information sent. The present report
discusses this later in the report.

On 08.04.2018, the Director, SIS writes to the IGP asking to halt
the investigations conducted by TID (Marked 3W1).

On 04.05.2018 the TID had first reported against Zahran in the
Colombo Magistrates Court (page 817). An open warrant was
obtained in 09.07.2018 (page 817 and 843) after looking at social
media posts. The warrant was sent to the Facebook office but there
was no response (page 817).

The CID was first aware of Zahran’s role on 26" January 2019
with reports of meetings happening on extremism and it was then that
CID commenced their investigations (page 780).

There were reports of his presence in different areas but no
concrete information was available at that time of a specific location
(page 768). CID teams were sent to Pasikuda, Kattankudy, Nuwara
Eliya, Kuliyapitiya and other places where CID received information
Zahran was present. It was around this time information was shared
that the group communicated using the “Threema” app and it was
difficult to find out more due to this technology. Since February, the
CID was looking for Zahran (page 769)

On 17.10.2018 the TID sent a letter to TRC, CERT to block FB
pages of Zahran (page 841) but this was not successful.

On 30" November 2018 two police constables were killed in
Vavunathivu, Batticaloa and it was first suspected to be the work of
former LTTE cadres. It was later discovered that this incident was
linked to Zahran’s group.

In December 2018, a Buddha statue was attacked in Mawanella.

Minister Kabir Hashim’s coordinating secretary was shot in the
head after this on March 2019.

In a search operation, arms belonging to the two Policemen killed
in November 2018 and a T56 machine gun were recovered in
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Wanathavilluwa. Four persons were arrested in Wanathavilluwa and
it was then the CID realised that Zahran’s group had a link in the
November and December incidents. (pages 778/802)

In February 2019, a ban on foreign travel for Zahran was obtained
from the Mawanella Magistrate.

On 28.02.2019, the TID visited Kakunugolla where Zahran’s
wife’s house was located (page 845). CID had by then created a
network to monitor and arrest Zahran and TID was asked to withdraw
from the case.

Testimony by both the CID and TID indicated that post ethno
religious attacks in Digana in March 2018, the extremist speeches of
Zahran increased online and he portrayed the Muslim community
being under attack by Buddhist clergy. (page 771)

TID had requested for an increase in manpower in December 2018
from the IGP but this was not provided possibly linked to the arrest
of Mr. Nalaka de Silva.

Senior DIG-CID informed the PSC that they discussed and shared
information with the SIS since January 2019 (pages 769/770).

Zahran and associates were discussed at the intelligence meetings.
The Director, SIS informed that the 19" March 2019 meeting had
discussed the “Activities of Mohamed Kasim Mohamed Zahran,
leader of the NTJ” (page 866) when an unidentified agency had said
that Zahran had fled the country to which the Director, SIS had
vehemently denied.

1.3. Intelligence received in April and action taken

The following sequence of events in April is important to
understand the steps taken by the intelligence and security structures
in the lead up to the Easter Sunday attacks.

The Director, SIS informed the PSC, on 2" April 2019 that he did
not think he briefed on Zahran (page 867) and there were no related
action points/follow up (page 868). This showed a lack of proper
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follow up in intelligence meetings despite several intelligence teams
being privy to potential threats.

The Director, SIS informed the PSC that he received intelligence
from his sources on 4™ April 2019 via WhatsApp but the identity of
his source was not revealed to the PSC. He confirmed that he had got
similar information in writing on 5™ April 2019. This had resulted in
him calling a meeting of his officers and the information received was
discussed.

According to the Director, SIS, it was on 6" April 2019 that he
discovered that surveillance was undertaken since 2015 as there had
been discussion of killing non-believers, foreigners and not to drink
Coca-Cola. (page 860) Head, CNI also confirmed with the PSC that
surveillance was there since 2015 (page 64).

The first person the Director, SIS had informed was the CNI on
the intelligence received. This was on 7" April 2019 where the
Director, SIS had asked for instructions (page 868). No one else was
informed till then. Head, CNI informed the PSC that he was given the
intelligence information on the morning of 8™ April 2019 (page 67).
He further states that he (CNI) informed the Secretary, MOD on 8"
afternoon regarding the intelligence information and suggested that it
be given to the Police. The Secretary, MOD had, according to CNI,
informed him to send the intelligence information to the Police. He
was unable to meet the Secretary, MOD on 8" morning as the Indian
Defence Secretary was visiting Sri Lanka (page 68).

On the 9™ April an ICM was scheduled and according to Director,
SIS, there was no agenda sent on the 8™ for the meeting on the 9™
April 2019 (page 868).

Despite this statement, the Agenda for the 9" April 2019 meeting
is marked “4W4”. Agenda Item 2 is listed to be a briefing by the
Director, SIS on the “Current Security/Intelligence Update”. Director,
SIS says that this agenda was not shared with the participants. (page
872)
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Oon 9" April 2019 the ICM met for the first time after the
intelligence information was received. The meeting was chaired by
the then Secretary, MOD. According to Director, SIS, the meeting
was attended by Commanders of the three forces and all investigating
agencies including DMI. His testimony and testimony of others
confirmed that CID was not present at this meeting. The TID was
present only because the Director, TID was at the MOD on that day
and the IGP had taken the Director to the meeting. This was a critical
meeting as it was the first meeting after intelligence information was
received by the SIS regarding potential attacks.

It was at this meeting the CNI showed the document dated 7%
April 2019 to the Director, SIS. The response of the Director, SIS was
as follows:

“Mr. Nilantha Jayawardena: Once | entered the room - |
sit next to the Chief of National Intelligence - he showed me my
paper saying, “Nilantha, your paper”. I will tell you the exact
words I said in Sinhalese. I said, “&&, @z 2:® &b ce¢? @m
e, ¢l @m Hwr ofen? 20 Gno' moe mde? @»
BDazl»”. “zye, @@ Secretaryd $00:” BHwes @y 508 He
said, “I have briefed the Secretary”. “Fine. &8 ®® @0 &¢
report &z ®¢ ¢ 9ccr @ed OO FHzY report o» gxles’
208, @20 WOV Baszd) Dz OB OO

Then, at the conference, he said “e8, Hesnea™-" Bwoc.
Then, the Secretary asked, “Nilantha, what is happening?” I
said, “Sir, [ am preparing a special report. I will be sending it to
the IGP and the CID directly today”. (Page 821)

The Director, SIS in his testimony to the PSC states that “I
expected him to act on it” (page 829) when he realised the seriousness
of the report that was sent. He repeats this later in his evidence (page
831) “I do not want to put the blame on the CNI. But | expected him
to do it. That was the information stage of the piece of paper | had

’

with me....~

“I expected the CNI to have a special meeting on Monday.
Because, there is a written order for the CNI by the former
Secretary, Defence that whenever he gets some information on
national security to have a special meeting with the Heads to
discuss it before the Tuesday’s meeting. I normally send the
Deputy Director, SIS in order to discuss the ground level
matters”. (page 871)
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This is critical since the Director, SIS was aware early on that it
was a serious matter but he only informed the CNI about it and did
not brief the 9" April 2019 meeting nor anyone else. He also goes on
to add that he expected a Monday meeting to be called where he
would have sent his Deputy Director. At no point does he feel he
should have either personally called for the Monday meeting
considering the serious nature of the intelligence or requested for such
a meeting. He subsequently admitted that on the Monday (8" April
2019) the Indian Defence Secretary was visiting Sri Lanka and this
may have been the reason for the meeting not to be held (page 871).

After discussing agenda items, the Secretary, MOD requested the
Director, SIS to give an update on the intelligence received. He had
said: “Nilantha, what is happening?” (pages 862/869).

To this the Director, SIS had said he will send a note with details-

“Sir, I am preparing a special report. I will be sending it to
the IGP and the CID directly today” (page 862). And adds “I will
recheck it and send” (page 869).

It must be noted here that according to the testimony received by
the PSC, the Secretary, MOD, the senior most civilian administrator
in the defence establishment was not directly informed of the
intelligence information received by the Director, SIS. The Secretary,
MOD till then was only informed of the intelligence information
received by the CNI. This despite the fact that the SIS reports to the
Secretary, MOD.

Throughout his testimony to the PSC, the Director, SIS said he
expected the CNI to discuss the intelligence information received at
the ICC to be held on the Monday (page 870) to which meeting he
would have sent the SIS, Deputy. The Director, SIS insisted in his
testimony that coordination remained with the CNI, and SIS was not
expected to coordinate.

He says this but goes on to say that SIS has a better way of
collecting information insinuating that they are the best prepared in
terms of intelligence -
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“But, you know other people also try to get information from
various sources. But, | think in that aspect, we have a better
mechanism of eliciting or collecting information because of the
nature we operate. We have more of a secret operation” (page

870).

The above comment is an admission by the Director, SIS that the
SIS may have been best prepared to receive information. In the
present instance, he only chose to inform the CNI of the intelligence
information received. He also does not brief the 9" April meeting
despite having the intelligence information and even when called for
by name to speak on it.

Furthermore, evidence by the CNI indicates that at the ICM on 9™
April 2019 the Director, SIS says he had informed the IGP of the
intelligence information prior to the ICM. (page 72)
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©enBeses N @10 B Hodzlesy Bwca?
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DO, OO 0@z ©nEIsHD@O ©wrI@ OO DwEr. S
D080, 9882 oz Bwo.

&0 (¢8986) Ss®es Sp@cz Owmr f daSed
00 Ho-af 23 ¢?

880 e@s¥8es wma. zxe0;.

@ (@20983) 33052 SO Owma: S»@200 Foomiem
eCwOD® 0@im¢ BHO? ¢f PIHE@ BHODesY, @idnem
eCOn@On @) OO 530 -
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This indicates that the IGP was sent the intelligence information
prior to the ICM on 9" April 2019 but also did not raise or discuss it
at the meeting.

It must also be noted that the Director, SIS has said in his
testimony to the PSC that he gave extensive briefings in prior
meetings on intelligence updates. The past practices of giving
briefings and having the pride of place at intelligence meetings to give
such updates are indicators that the SIS had a specific responsibility
to brief on intelligence information received. In the 9" April 2019, the
Director, SIS was specifically requested by the Secretary, MOD to
brief on the intelligence information received to which he responded
by saying he would send a note to the IGP and CID. Thus, he had two
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opportunities to brief. The first was when his was to give an update
according to Agenda Item 2. The second was when the Secretary,
MOD called on him by name. Both instances he remained silent on
the intelligence information received. At no point did he convey to
anyone else other than the CNI that the intelligence information was
of a serious nature. This despite his own admission to the CNI that
this intelligence information was of a serious nature (“Oka Ledak™).
From the testimony provided, the Director, SIS failed by not taking
all necessary measures to keep the intelligence and security apparatus
of Sri Lanka informed of the intelligence information received.

The PSC also heard evidence from the Army Commander who
was at the ICM on 9" April and stated that no information of the
intelligence information was shared at the meeting and that the
military could have taken appropriate steps to prevent attacks if
intelligence was shared. The Army Commander also informed the
PSC that he only found out the intelligence information after the
attacks which the PSC notes is a serious issue. The PSC notes that the
SIS should have briefed the ICM and also shared the intelligence
information with its counterparts in the intelligence sector including
the DMI so that a collective effort could have been made to address
the intelligence information received.

On 9" April 2019 the Director, SIS had sent the IGP, with copies
to CNI and CID, a letter marked “TOP SECRET” (marked 4W2)
giving the details including the below- that Zahran Hashim of the
National Thowheed Jamaat (NTJ) and his associates are planning to
carry out a suicide attack in Sri Lanka and that they were to target
some churches. It was also conveyed that the Indian High
Commission in Sri Lanka was to be a target. No dates were given as
to when the attack was to be carried out. It goes on to state that the
modes of attack may include Suicide Attack, Weapon Attack, Knife
Attack or Truck Attack. Individuals who are likely team members of
the planned suicide attack include- Zahran Hashim, Ja Al Quithal,
Rilwan, Saji Moulavi, Shahid, Milhan and others.

The Director, SIS also informed the PSC that he informed his
team in the East of the intelligence received. (page 874)
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On 9" April 2019, the CNI sends the IGP a letter marked “TOP
SECRET- EYES ONLY” (marked 4WI1) where he refe